NAME
Perdue, C. A., House

LOCATION
STREET & NUMBER
422 West Eighth Street

CITY, TOWN
Beloit

STATE
Kansas

CLASSIFICATION
CATEGORY
PUBLIC
OWNERSHIP
PRIVATE
STATUS
OCCUPIED

PRESENT USE
AGRICULTURE
COMMERCIAL
EDUCATIONAL
ENTERTAINMENT
GOVERNMENT
INDUSTRIAL
MILITARY
OTHER

OWNER OF PROPERTY
NAME
Margaret H. Hanni

LOCATION OF LEGAL DESCRIPTION
COURTHOUSE
Register of Deeds

LOCATION
422 West Eighth Street

CITY, TOWN
Beloit

STATE
Kansas

DATE
None

DEPOSITORY FOR SURVEY RECORDS

CITY, TOWN
The C. A. Perdue house at the northwest edge of Beloit is one of the oldest native limestone houses in the city and its occupants, the Perdue family, had a significant role in the development of the community.

The property was first deeded to Charles H. Morrill in 1872 under the Homestead Act. A two-story, two-room house was constructed around 1874. On January 29, 1879, Dr. C. A. Perdue purchased the house and surrounding acres from David and Mary Scott. Charles Atkinson Perdue had earlier been a physician and postmaster in Ohio. In 1861 he responded to a call for volunteer surgeons and served at Camp Chase, Tripler Hospital, near Columbus until the end of the Civil War. After the war he gave up the practice of medicine and lived for a number of years on a farm near Grinnell, Iowa. In 1872 he was one of the principals of the "Southern Iowa Coal Company" which successfully carried on coal mining operations for a number of years before selling out. His son, William Channing Perdue, came first to Beloit in 1878. The parents soon followed, and in late June, 1879, the Beloit Courier reported that the Perdues had disposed of their property in Iowa and would become permanent residents of Beloit. Dr. C. A. Perdue never practiced medicine in Beloit, living more or less the life of a retired gentleman. He invested in a number of businesses and buildings, including the local opera house.

Dr. Perdue had purchased the Scott property early in 1879. The Nov. 6, 1879, issue of the Courier referred to a list of improvements recently completed or underway in the community. Included was the large ten room addition Dr. Perdue built at a cost of $4,000. Both Perdue and his wife had a considerable interest in horticulture and apparently spent much time and money on fruit and shade trees and other plantings. (His obituary noted, "The trees he planted are a lasting testimony to his industry.")

Mrs. Perdue died in 1886 and he in 1899. The house became the property of William Channing Perdue. The younger Perdue was quite active in local and area politics. He was the Beloit postmaster during the Harrison administration and then county clerk from 1894 to 1896. He was again appointed postmaster during the McKinley administration and served until 1914 with the exception of one four-year term when he was assistant postmaster. He was much involved in the county and district Republican politics until poor health compelled his retirement. The W. C. Perdues were prominent in the social life of the small town of Beloit and their house was the center of many social events. After the death of W. C. Perdue in 1921, his widow, Mrs. Jane Perdue, operated a tea room in the house for a number of years. The current owner acquired the property from Mrs. Perdue's niece in 1955 and has restored much of the house.

The C. A. Perdue house is one of the landmark houses of Beloit and is one of the oldest houses in the community. It is worthy of National Register nomination because it is an early, well constructed and handsome building in which the aesthetic and structural properties of the native post rock have been sensitively exploited.
The earliest part of the C. A. Perdue residence in Beloit was a two room native limestone structure built in 1874. Shortly after buying the property in 1879 Dr. Perdue had a two story, ten room addition built on to the south face of the original structure. The new addition was constructed of dressed native limestone (post rock) and its design has been influenced by the Romano-Tuscan mode of the Renaissance revival style.

Post rock is a common name for the native limestone which derives from the extensive use the early settlers made of the stone for fence posts. The stone has a creamy-buff color with a brown streaked layer somewhere near the center. Post rock is usually found just below the topsoil in a three million acre area in north central Kansas. The fact that the stone is soft when freshly quarried and hardens after being exposed to the air makes it an excellent and commonly used building material.

The main facade which faces south has a wide projecting central wing. The main entrance has been placed on the east side of this wing. Aligned above the doorway on the second story is a double-hung, round headed window. The window has a stone sill and a carved arched stone lintel with a keystone. This detailing has been repeated on most windows in the building. There are two other aligned windows on this projecting wing to the west of the doorway. The facade is set back on either side of the wing. A single doorway with a window above has been centered on each side. A one story porch wraps around the entire south facade. The porch has been elevated on a limestone foundation and has a wood floor. Although this porch appears in a 1912 photograph, it does not seem to be original because of its detailing and the way its roof line cuts across the stone arch above the door on the east side of the main facade. The corners of the building have been treated with vermiculated quoins.

Both the east and west facades have details similar to the main facade with a centered window on each floor. There is a bay window on the first story of the east facade.

The original structure is now a two story wing that is attached to the eastern side of the north facade. Its roofline is lower and the apertures have flat arches. The corners have been treated with vermiculated quoins. A single doorway with a transom and a rectangular window above have been centered on the eastern face of this structure. A modern, concrete block, single car garage has been attached to the north side of the original building.

In the 1880's the house stood on a large tract of land at the northwestern edge of Beloit. Both Dr. and Mrs. Perdue were considered fine botanists and the home was surrounded by many plants and trees. Much of the land has been sold and the house now stands on a one acre lot bounded on two sides by highway K-14, but there are still many fine old trees and plantings on the property. In 1970 a stone wall was constructed on the south, east and west property lines. Later, through pictorial evidence, it was discovered that a stone wall had existed there earlier. The home has been renovated by its present owner, and the property does appear much as it did when it was the Perdues' residence.
MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES

Beloit Courier, June 21, Nov. 6, 1879; Dec. 2, 1886; Feb. 2, 1899.
Beloit Gazette, Nov. 16, 1921.
Muilenburg, Grace, and Ada Swineford, Land of the Post Rock (Lawrence, Kan.,
Tract Book (microfilmed homestead records), Kansas State Historical Society.
Preliminary nomination form prepared by Margaret H. Hanni, Beloit.

GEOGRAPHICAL DATA

ACREAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY: one

UTM REFERENCES:

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>A</th>
<th>Zone</th>
<th>Easting</th>
<th>Northing</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>B</td>
<td>Zone</td>
<td>Easting</td>
<td>Northing</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>C</td>
<td>Zone</td>
<td>Easting</td>
<td>Northing</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>D</td>
<td>Zone</td>
<td>Easting</td>
<td>Northing</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION:

LIST ALL STATES AND COUNTIES FOR PROPERTIES OVERLAPPING STATE OR COUNTY BOUNDARIES:

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>State</th>
<th>Code</th>
<th>County</th>
<th>Code</th>
</tr>
</thead>
</table>

FORM PREPARED BY:

NAME/TITLE: Richard D. Pankratz, Director, Historic Sites Survey
Cornelia Wyma, Architectural Historian

ORGANIZATION: Kansas State Historical Society

STREET & NUMBER: 120 West 10th Street

CITY OR TOWN: Topeka

STATE: Kansas

CODE: 66612

STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICER CERTIFICATION

THE EVALUATED SIGNIFICANCE OF THIS PROPERTY WITHIN THE STATE IS:

NATIONAL

STATE

LOCAL X

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89-665), I hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Service.

STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICER SIGNATURE: [Signature]

DATE: August 3, 1976

Executive Director, Kansas State Historical Society

FOR NPS USE ONLY

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS PROPERTY IS INCLUDED IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER

DATE

DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF ARCHAEOLOGY AND HISTORIC PRESERVATION

DATE

ATTEST:

DATE

KEEPER OF THE NATIONAL REGISTER
C. A. Perdue House
Beloit, Kansas

Lat. 39° 28' 01"
Long. 98° 06' 55"